
KEENE CITY COUNCIL
Council Chambers, Keene City Hall

March 17, 2022
7:00 PM

  
 ROLL CALL
  
 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
  
 MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING
 • March 3, 2022
  
A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS
  
B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS
 1. Nominations

 Planning Board
 Airport Development and Marketing Committee 

 2. Appointment of an ad hoc Downtown Infrastructure Project Steering 
Committee

  
C. COMMUNICATIONS
 1. Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen and ArtBar - Request to Use City Public 

Parking Spaces - Parklets
 2. Councilor Remy - Conflict of Interest - KYPN Food Festival
 3. Councilors Williams, Worksman and Lake - Encouraging the City to 

Develop a Homelessness Strategy through  Programs that Focus on 
Reducing Harms Associated with Homelessness

  
D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES

Page 1 of 83



 1. Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen & ArtBar - Request to Serve Alcohol at 
Sidewalk Café

 2. Gail Somers/Yahso Jamaican Grille - Request to Serve Alcohol at 
Sidewalk Café

 3. Keene Young Professionals Network – Keene Food Festival - Request to 
Use City Property

 4. Rules of Order – Section 4 – Quorum and Remote Participation
 5. Rules of Order – Section  15 – Conflicts of Interest
 6. Acceptance of 2022 Wellness Grant - Human Resources Director
 7. Acceptance of the Locality Equipment Matching Program Grant - Fire 

Department
 8. Negotiate Lease of Airport Property - Airport Director
 9. Airport Operating Rights Agreement - Monadnock Choppers - Airport 

Director
 10. Airport Engineering and Architectural Services - Airport Director
 11. Professional Services Contract for Mapping City Cemeteries and 

Associated Software - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director
 12. Body Worn Camera and In-Car Video System Implementation - Police 

Department
 13. Winchester Street Reconstruction – Consultant Selection for Construction 

Engineering Services - City Engineer, and
Winchester Street Reconstruction – Design Consultant Services for 
Construction Support Services - City Engineer

 14. Proposed Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for FY 2023-2029
  
E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
  
F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS
 1. City Council Goals - City Manager
 2. Creation of a Parklet Ordinance - Mayor Hansel
 3. Acceptance of Donations - Partner City Committee
  
G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
 1. Capital Improvement Program FY 2023-2029
  
H. REPORTS - MORE TIME
  

Page 2 of 83



I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING
 1. Relating to Stop Signs – Washington Avenue

Ordinance O-2022-03
  
J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING
  
K. RESOLUTIONS
 1. Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Winchester Street By-Pass 

Project
Resolution R-2022-03
Resolution R-2022-04

 2. Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Thompson Road Repair and 
Stabilization Project
Resolution R-2022-05

 3. Council Policy: Relating to the Legislative Process
Resolution R-2022-06

  
 NON PUBLIC SESSION
  
 ADJOURNMENT

Page 3 of 83



Page 4 of 83



Page 5 of 83



Page 6 of 83



03/03/2022 

Mayor Hansel recognized Drew Bryenton of30 Nelson Street, who spoke as Chair of the 
Bicycle/Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee (BPPAC). Mr. Bryenton stated that .BPPAC 
supports and encourages the City Council to support the following projects listed in the CIP: the 
open space trails program on page 41, repaving Apple Way in Fiscal Year 2024 , the 
Transportation Heritage Trail program on page 43 (this is the highest priority project that BPPAC 
is tracking, and they support all parts of the project, and the Marlboro Street connector project on 
page 40 , 80% of which is funded already a NH Department of Transportation TAP grant. 

Mayor Hansel continued his department by department review of the CIP. There were no public 
comments on the Internal Support section, on software upgrades and facilities projects related to 
roofs (pp. 52--63). 

Th.ere was one public commeri.t on the Infrastructure (pp.69-103) section, including Public Works 
projects and the perimeter fence project at the Airport. Mr. Bryenton spoke again on behalf of the 
Bicycle/Pedestrian Path Advisory·Committee. He commented on the sidewalk asset management 
program, stating that BPP AC supports the investment in pedestrian infrastructure and setting 
aside funds in the CIP to do so represents a good step forward. He said that walkability is an 
important reason why many people choose to live in Keene, including older adults, families with 
kids, young professionals, and others. Investments in our sidewalks is important for maintaining 
this highly marketable feature in our City. He said the City investment in pedestrian infrastructure 
is also critical for him. He cited the City's stated goal of sourcing all transportation related energy 
from renewable resources by 2050 . He questioned what power source is more sustainable than 
people power? To encourage walking, sidewalks need to be maintained in good working order. 

There were no comments on the following funds: Parking, Solid Waste, Sewer, Water, and 
Equipment funds. There were no further general comments on the CIP. 

Hearing no further business, Mayor Hansel closed the public hearing at 7: 18 PM. Written public 
comments would be accepted until 1 :00 PM on Tuesday, March 8. Written comments must be 
signed and submitted to the City Clerk by that date and time to 

· 
luded in the recor 

A true record, attest: 

City Clerk 

CONFIRMATION 

A motion by Councilor Powers to confirm. the nomination of Linsey Edmunds to the Energy and 
Climate Committee, with a tenn to expire December 31, 2023 was duly seconded by Councilor 
Bosley. Councilor Ormerod expressed his support for this nomination. He continued highlighting 
the Energy and Climate Committee. However, he said that the Committee was unable to meet in 
January and at least one other time due to lack of membership, including alternates. He urged his 
fellow Councilors to recruit community members for the Committee, which has four sub-task 
groups doing a lot of important work. 

46 

Page 7 of 83



Page 8 of 83



Page 9 of 83



Page 10 of 83



Page 11 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #B.1.

Meeting Date: March 17, 2022

To: Mayor and Keene City Council

From: Mayor George S. Hansel

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk

Subject: Nominations

 Planning Board
 Airport Development and Marketing Committee

Recommendation:

Attachments:
1. Radder, Kristopher_Redacted

Background:
I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the designated board or commission:

Planning Board
Gail Somers, slot 10  Term to expire Dec. 31, 2022
moving from regular to alternate position

Armando Rangel, slot 6 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2022
moving from alternate to regular position

Airport Development and Marketing 
Committee
Kristopher Radder, alternate - slot 13 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2024
27 Ridgewood Road

Page 12 of 83



Page 13 of 83



Page 14 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #B.2.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Mayor George S. Hansel
  

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk
  

Subject: Appointment of an ad hoc Downtown Infrastructure Project Steering 
Committee

  
 
Recommendation:
I hereby appoint the following individuals to serve on the ad hoc Downtown Infrastructure Project 
Steering Committee, with a charge to review the scope and design of utility replacements as well as 
improvements to the downtown area.  The ad hoc Committee will serve as an advocate for the 
project and be the host for any public interaction events.  Finally, the ad hoc committee will make its 
recommendations to the City Council with regards to the project.  
 

Mayor George S. Hansel, Chair
Councilor Randy Filiault
Councilor Mitchell Greenwald
Councilor Andrew Madison
Dillon Benik, Bicycle Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee
Alex Faulkner, Amiccis
Alec Doyle, The Colonial Theatre
Mark Rebillard, Deep Roots Massage
Brandie Wells, Soul Emporium
Nathalie Houder, Keene State College
Cheryl Belair, downtown resident
Robert Patton-Spruill, downtown property 
owner

 
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:

Page 15 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #C.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Danya Landis
  

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk
  

Subject: Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen and ArtBar - Request to Use City Public 
Parking Spaces - Parklets

  
 
Recommendation:
 
Attachments:
1. Communication_Machina Kitchen & ArtBar
 
 
Background:
Machina Kitchen and ArtBar is requesting use of public parking spaces in front of her establishment 
for the location of parklets that would be used to expand the outdoor dining spaces for the restaurant.

Page 16 of 83



  
 

www.machinaarts.org 
9 Court Street, Keene NH 

(603) 903-0011 
 

        [March 13, 2022] 
 
Dear Honorable Mayor Hansel and City Council: 
 
Machina Kitchen and ArtBar, located at 9 Court Street in downtown Keene, requests the permission to build a parklet so the 
community members can enjoy our food and beverages (including alcohol) outdoors. This past year our business has been able to 
strive through adaption, because of this we are thinking outside the box and reinventing our space to fit the needs and the wants 
of our customers. Even though restrictions have been loosening for COVID-19, many people will prefer outside seating indefinitely. 
The impact of having outdoor seating made our business last year, and we likely wouldn’t be open today if it had not been for the 
opportunity. Beyond that, we believe that our patio made Court Street more inviting, lively, beautiful, and a more active space.  

 
Last year, the city generously bagged four parking spots in front of our restaurant. This made it possible for us to have six 6-
person tables and four 4-person tables in the public right of way (area marked in blue in the below photo). Blocking off these 
spots was incredibly helpful because the sidewalk in front of Machina is narrow and obstructed by several light posts and mature 
trees. 

 
Left image: showing the location of the tables and parking spots / Right image: Our patio last season (2021) 

 
 
 We understand we have a limited amount of space accessible for a patio. Our sidewalk is narrowed by the trees and light 
posts, and we do not have the space to have a deck on the side or rear of our building (both are private property owned by the 
church). Building a parklet in the parallel parking spaces will expand our seating and create a more enjoyable dining experience in 
the warmer months. We would be continuing the beauty of downtown by bringing it up Court Street and allowing a safer 
environment for both our customers while eliminating the concern of the public pulling into the reserved parking spaces. Parklets 
are becoming very common in New Hampshire cities and have allowed restaurants to provide a more beautiful and verdant 
environment. Creative solutions, like parklets, have helped restaurants adapt to COVID-19 restrictions and encourage active and 
safe downtowns.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 17 of 83



  
 

www.machinaarts.org 
9 Court Street, Keene NH 

(603) 903-0011 
 

 
For inspiration, here are some fun options for parklets that have been created in other cities: 

 
 
Now for the exciting part- Machina would like to create our own parklet within three parking spots in front of our restaurant at 9 
Court Street! 
 
Capacity: We plan to have five 6-person tables and four 4-person tables amounting in forty-six outdoor seats. We currently have 
capacity for ninety people inside the restaurant. Our bathroom configuration allows for a combined indoor/outdoor capacity of 
up to 150-persons.  
 
Ground: The parklet will have a wooden deck, flush with the curb, that will allow for proper drainage and creates a smooth 
transition from the sidewalk to the parklet. The walking space between the curb and the building is eleven feet. The seating will 
start six feet away from the building to allow for handicap accessible public walking space on the sidewalk. 

 
Base: The base of the fence will be heavy pressure treated lumber that will run the entire length of the fence. This will ground and 
hold the parklet from moving and will also support the fence. The nine-inch base will create transition between the deck and the 
road that is similar to the existing 6-inch sidewalk. The fence surrounding the parklet will be anchored to the deck. 

 
Fence: The fence will be constructed using eight-foot tall 4x4 pressure treated posts, supporting either side of the 8-foot-long 
fence sections (made from painted plywood). Posts will have knee braces that connect to the framework adding extra support. 
The patio will be well lit with automatic LED lighting and reflective tape on the outside of the fence for visibility as well as cement 
planters in front of the fence facing Main Street. 
 
Structure: Our parklet will be designed to be easily assembled and disassembled and will not affect the current city 
infrastructure. We have hired Landis Carpentry to design and build our parklet. They are a local professional contracting business 
that has experience with building houses and foundations. This section of Court Street has a twenty-five miles per hour speed 
limit and our parklet will be clearly visible from oncoming traffic in either direction. 

 

Page 18 of 83



  
 

www.machinaarts.org 
9 Court Street, Keene NH 

(603) 903-0011 
 

 
 

Diagrams 
 

Visual of parklet in space 

 
 

Distance between the start of the parklet and the corner of Main St 

 
 

Distance of parklet from the intersection of Court St and Vernon St 

 

Page 19 of 83



  
 

www.machinaarts.org 
9 Court Street, Keene NH 

(603) 903-0011 
 

 
 

Diagrams cont. 
Created by Landis Carpentry 

 
Top view of parklet in relation to building & objects 

 
Left image: dimensions of the structure (shown incomplete) / Right image: Top view of the full structure (shown incomplete) 

 

 
 

Page 20 of 83



  
 

www.machinaarts.org 
9 Court Street, Keene NH 

(603) 903-0011 
 

We are incredibly grateful for your attention and consideration of our request. We are very invested in making our city an amazing 
space for all to thrive and we believe the allowance of our restaurant to create this parklet will only add to the beauty and vibrance of 
our city; as well as help our business grow and prosper.  
 
I am happy to address any questions or concerns- I welcome you to call or email me, 
 

 
My best, 

 
__________________________                             __________________ 
Danya Landis, Machina Arts LLC                           Date 
Partner, Co-Founder, Art Director 
Direct: (603) 205-0135 
Email: danya@machinaarts.org 

Page 21 of 83

Danya Landis
03/13/2022



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #C.2.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Councilor Michael Remy
  

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk
  

Subject: Councilor Remy - Conflict of Interest - KYPN Food Festival
  
 
Recommendation:
 
Attachments:
1. Communication_Councilor Remy
 
 
Background:
Councilor Remy serves as the event chair for the Keene Young Professionals Network.  He is 
requesting that he be allowed to abstain from the vote on the license for this event.

Page 22 of 83



Page 23 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #C.3.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Councilors Williams
Workman and Lake

  

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk
  

Subject: Councilors Williams, Worksman and Lake - Encouraging the City to 
Develop a Homelessness Strategy through  Programs that Focus on 
Reducing Harms Associated with Homelessness

  
 
Recommendation:
 
Attachments:
1. Councilors Williams, Workman and Lake - Homelessness
 
 
Background:
Councilors Williams, Workman, and Lake are asking that the City take stock of its housing and 
homelessness strategy and consider instituting programs that focus on reducing harm associated 
with homelessness, which affects both people experiencing homelessness and the broader 
community.

Page 24 of 83



Page 25 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen & ArtBar - Request to Serve Alcohol at 
Sidewalk Café

  
 
Recommendation:
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, & Development Committee recommends that Machina 
Kitchen & ArtBar be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in connection with their 
Sidewalk Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of the City Council, and 
compliance with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the City Code.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Chair Bosley welcomed the applicant, Danya Landis of 433 Elm Street, who is the owner of the 
Machina Kitchen and Artbar, in addition to Brook Shumate of 12 West Street, to speak to this 
request. Ms. Landis was requesting to serve alcohol at her sidewalk café, which she said had been 
incredibly valuable to the business. She was thankful for being able to serve alcohol on the sidewalk 
during these past two years and hoped to move forward continuing the same way. She appreciated 
the Committee’s consideration.  

Chair Bosley requested comments from the City Manager, Elizabeth Dragon, who said that this was 
the first request of the City Council for permission to serve alcohol on the sidewalk. This was the one 
time that this request comes before City Council, after which the matter would be approved 
administratively. This is coming before the Council now because during Covid-19 there was flexibility 
under the emergency management order, and this restaurant was operating under that order for both 
their sidewalk and sale of alcohol on the sidewalk licenses.

Chair Bosley asked, once this was approved, whether it would fold back into their sidewalk café 
license. The City Manager replied in the affirmative.  

With no Committee or public questions or comments, Chair Bosley entertained a motion.

Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Ormerod duly seconded.

Page 26 of 83



On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, & Development Committee recommends that Machina 
Kitchen & ArtBar be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in connection with their 
Sidewalk Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of the City Council, and 
compliance with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the City Code.

The Chair advised Ms. Landis to work with the City to finalize the license.

Page 27 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.2.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Gail Somers/Yahso Jamaican Grille - Request to Serve Alcohol at Sidewalk 
Café

  
 
Recommendation:
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, & Development Committee recommends that Yahso 
Jamaican Grille be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in connection with their Sidewalk 
Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of the City Council, and compliance 
with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the City Code.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Chair Bosley welcomed the applicant, Gail Somers of 5 Orchard Street, owner of Yahso Jamaican 
Grille. Ms. Somers said she was present requesting permission to serve alcohol at the Grille’s 
outdoor sidewalk café. She said that during the last two years, this feature was very valuable to her 
business. Ms. Somers added that more importantly, they had operated outdoors with zero incidents. 
She through it was prudent and appreciated if they were able to keep operating outdoors in this way. 
Ms. Somers thanked the Committee for their consideration.

Chair Bosley asked the City Manager whether this was a similar situation to the previous agenda 
item. The City Manager, Elizabeth Dragon, replied in the affirmative. The Chair continued, stating that 
the City was operating under emergency management orders originally, so this component would get 
folded back into the normal café license that would be issued administratively; the City Manager 
agreed.

With no Committee or public questions or comments. Chair Bosley entertained a motion.

Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Johnsen duly seconded.

On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, & Development Committee recommends that Yahso 
Jamaican Grille be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in connection with their Sidewalk 
Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of the City Council, and compliance 
with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the City Code.

Page 28 of 83



Chair Bosley advised Ms. Somers to work with the City to formalize the license.

Page 29 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.3.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Keene Young Professionals Network – Keene Food Festival - Request to 
Use City Property

  
 
Recommendation:
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee recommends that the Keene 
Young Professionals Network be granted permission to use downtown City rights-of-way on 
Saturday, June 4, 2022 with rain date of June 5, 2022 subject to the discretion of the applicant, to 
conduct a Food Festival conditional upon the following:

 The furnishing of a certificate of liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 naming the City 
of Keene as an additional insured;

 The signing of a standard revocable license and indemnification agreement;
 That the Petitioner agrees to absorb the cost of any City services over and above the amount 

of City funding allocated to the event, and agrees to remit said payment within 30-days of the 
date of invoicing;

 That the footprint and layout for the event shall encumber the traveled portions of Central 
Square, Main Street both sides from Central Square to Railroad Street and Gilbo Avenue, and 
a portion of Railroad Street.  Road closures may include any portions of other streets needed 
to facilitate detour routes. The full extent of road closures and detour routes shall be agreed 
upon with City staff;

 That the Petitioner is permitted to place porta-potties in City parking spaces located at the 
base of Washington Street from Friday, June 3, 2022 to Monday June 6, 2022, which will be 
chained together and affixed to ensure they are not vandalized while unattended overnight;

 That the actual event will be held from 11:30 AM to 4:00 PM with the times for set up and 
clean up to be established with City staff;

 That free parking be granted under the provisions of the free parking policy for City parking 
spaces on Washington Street needed for storage of equipment from Friday, June 3, 2022 to 
Monday June 6, 2022; and spaces within the event footprint on the day of the event;

 The submittal of signed letters of permission from any private property owners for the use of 
their property; and

 Said permission is granted subject to obtainment of any necessary licenses or permits and 
compliance with all laws; and compliance with any recommendations of City staff.

 
Attachments:

Page 30 of 83



None 
 
Background:
Chair Bosley welcomed representatives from the Keene Young Professionals Network (YPN): City 
Councilor Michael Remy and Alana Fiero of 744 W. Swanzey Road, Swanzey. She also welcomed 
the Director of Economic Development, Special Projects, & Initiatives, Med Kopczynski.

Councilor Remy began describing the event, stating that overall, they sought to expand the footprint 
by closing down to Railroad Street and having more vendors located in that area.  He said they had 
been working with some of the local businesses and had partnered with the Art Walk to determine 
the right layout.  Their intent would be locate their activities so as not to block the view and access to 
the downtown businesses.  They would begin by filling the median to leave businesses open to the 
street as much as possible, but if more restaurants wanted to participate, they could use those 
spaces. Still, the idea was to leave those spaces largely open to downtown business visitors on Main 
Street, which he said would not be possible for Central Square. Councilor Remy said the beer area 
was a part of the footprint but off City property, so the City Council does not need to worry about that 
in terms of the license.  He returned to the partnership with the Art Walk, saying that in an effort to 
connect the events, the Art Walk would fill some of the available spaces with their artists. He 
continued that there would be an earlier start this year following feedback from some restaurants that 
it was challenging to get ready for dinner service with last years’ event ending at 5:00 PM. Ms. Fiero 
added that last year they held the event with no incidents. Councilor Remy continued that last year 
they gave back almost $50,000 and with sponsors it was over that, with some going to the local 
restaurants as a part of that. Chair Bosley said that was wonderful and very impressive.

Chair Bosley requested Staff comments from Mr. Kopczynski, who was pleased to be present in this 
role, filling-in for the Director of Public Works/Emergency Management Director. Mr. Kopczynski was 
grateful for a chance to laud a successful event in our downtown.  He applauded both the Art Walk 
and the Keene YPN for combining their efforts after some conflicts last year that have been resolved 
through good communication this year. Along those lines, Mr. Kopczynski said that the parking 
spaces being used for this event are a minor part of what they are doing to ensure that our downtown 
is vital. He said that last year, thousands of people visited our downtown, and there would be 
thousands more this year. He said this was a great event last year and would be again. There had 
been two separate meetings and there were still some details to work out, but Mr. Kopczynski 
advised that by all means, this is something the City should go forward with. He was pleased express 
his support.

Vice Chair Giacomo asked whether the timing was shifted earlier or the whole event timing was 
condensed. Councilor Remy replied that it was 12:00 PM–5:00 PM last year and this year it would be 
11:30 AM–4:00 PM; so, yes to both questions. Vice Chair Giacomo continued asking what effect that 
would have on the back end of the festival regarding break-down since it would be starting earlier; 
would that impact the streets reopening? Councilor Remy said the plan was to reopen at the same 
time as last year, but they would still endeavor to open the streets as soon as possible. Last year, 
Councilor Remy said clean-up was complicated because one restaurant thought they could remain 
serving on Main Street.

Mr. Kopczynski said there were still some coordination issues to work out. He said that 144 spaces 
would be blocked for some period of time, and they would open the streets as soon as they can. 
They need to direct traffic for parking from Main Street and Gilbo Avenue to both the Gilbo Avenue 
and the Commercial Street lots. Some work was still needed on directing traffic to the upper Wells 
Street Parking deck. While there were still some coordination issues to resolve, Mr. Kopczynski said 
they were quite minor.

Page 31 of 83



Vice Chair Giacomo asked whether expanding the footprint down Main Street would impact the 
number of barricades and the Staff effort for set-up and shutdown. Councilor Remy said there would 
actually be a few less barricades from a width perspective but there are a few other side streets to 
worry about, like Railroad and Church Streets. Councilor Remy said they expected an incremental 
cost from the City and agreed to cover any cost above what the City provided through the City 
Council action that had already occurred.  

Councilor Johnsen said she was looking forward to the event and asked whether this would exclude 
a lot of people who work until 5:00 PM. Councilor Remy replied that he hoped not because it is a 
Saturday event.

In curiosity, Chair Bosley wondered if there were plans for special contests this year. Ms. Fiero said 
they were working on a spicy contest, whether it could be peppers. Councilor Remy noted that 
peppers are hard to source this time of the year. He said they learned some things about the tokens 
last year; the tokens will be $2 each again this year, but last year there had been a separate ticketing 
system for the beer tent, which led to complexity, and they hope to revise that under one token 
system in one line. They are trying to fine tune the challenges from the first year. Chair Bosley said it 
sounded like it was a very successful event last year and she felt the Committee was excited to 
support this.

Chair Bosley heard public comment.

Danya Landis of 433 Elm Street, who said that as a restaurant owner, this event was amazing last 
year because there are few opportunities to reach that may people at once, especially with the 
challenges of reaching people during the pandemic. This was a return to that community feel and she 
hoped it would happen again. Chair Bosley was grateful for that feedback.

Mr. Kopczynski said this event had been a good model of how to bring diverse groups together with 
the City to define problems and find positive solutions to carry-on an event. He applauded the YPN 
and Public Works Staff for working closely and providing guidance for other groups attempting this 
sort of event. Chair Bosley was grateful for that feedback, stating that several times she had 
mentioned that she would like some basic template to facilitate more of these sorts of events and to 
make that work less daunting.  She added these events are invaluable for the success of all 
downtown businesses.

Chair Bosley recognized Gail Somers of 5 Orchard Street, who wanted to echo Ms. Landis’ 
comments. Ms. Somers stated that it was a great event last year for local restaurants and 
businesses; she wanted to see it happen successfully again. She noted that the event date had not 
been stated for the record. Councilor Remy confirmed that the event is scheduled for June 4 from 
11:00 AM–4:00 PM, with a potential rain dated on June 5; though he stated that is very difficult to 
move an event like this.

Mr. Kopczynski added that he wanted to thank the City Clerk’s office and specifically Assistant City 
Clerk, Terri Hood, who he said does an amazing job keeping these events going. Councilor Remy 
continued thanking all City Staff for facilitating more of these opportunities.

Based on Councilor Remy’s comments about a rain date, the City Attorney, Thomas Mullins, 
suggested that the rain date should be included in the recommended motion so they can work with 
the City directly and do not have to come back for additional approval. Chair Bosley said that 
sounded ideal.

Page 32 of 83



Councilor Remy welcomed volunteers and sponsors and invited the public to attend. Ms. Fiero said 
that interested parties could email keeneypn@gmail.com or visit the Keene YPN Facebook page.

Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Ormerod duly seconded.

On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee recommends that the Keene 
Young Professionals Network be granted permission to use downtown City rights-of-way on 
Saturday, June 4, 2022 with rain date of June 5, 2022 subject to the discretion of the applicant, to 
conduct a Food Festival conditional upon the following:

 The furnishing of a certificate of liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 naming the City 
of Keene as an additional insured;

 The signing of a standard revocable license and indemnification agreement;
 That the Petitioner agrees to absorb the cost of any City services over and above the amount 

of City funding allocated to the event, and agrees to remit said payment within 30-days of the 
date of invoicing;

 That the footprint and layout for the event shall encumber the traveled portions of Central 
Square, Main Street both sides from Central Square to Railroad Street and Gilbo Avenue, and 
a portion of Railroad Street.  Road closures may include any portions of other streets needed 
to facilitate detour routes. The full extent of road closures and detour routes shall be agreed 
upon with City staff;

 That the Petitioner is permitted to place porta-potties in City parking spaces located at the 
base of Washington Street from Friday, June 3, 2022 to Monday June 6, 2022, which will be 
chained together and affixed to ensure they are not vandalized while unattended overnight;

 That the actual event will be held from 11:30 AM to 4:00 PM with the times for set up and 
clean up to be established with City staff;

 That free parking be granted under the provisions of the free parking policy for City parking 
spaces on Washington Street needed for storage of equipment from Friday, June 3, 2022 to 
Monday June 6, 2022; and spaces within the event footprint on the day of the event;

 The submittal of signed letters of permission from any private property owners for the use of 
their property; and

 Said permission is granted subject to obtainment of any necessary licenses or permits and 
compliance with all laws; and compliance with any recommendations of City staff.

Councilor Johnsen wondered whether the rain date would limit participation with people in later 
church services on a Sunday. Councilor Remy said that especially for the church on Central Square, 
they are aware of the timing, and Keene YPN is coordinating with them to ensure, for example, that a 
wedding is not letting-out onto Central Square in the middle of a food festival. Fortunately, Councilor 
Remy said the event is primarily in the afternoon after morning church services. He said the event 
would not block the Central Square church’s parking lot in any way.

Page 33 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.4.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Rules of Order – Section 4 – Quorum and Remote Participation
  
 
Recommendation:
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney draft an amendment to Section 4 of the Rules of Order in accordance with the background 
notes of the Committee’s discussion.
 
Attachments:
1. Section 4. Rules of Order Amendment
2. Section 4. Rules of Order Amendment - redlined version
 
 
Background:
Chair Bosley said this item was referred back to this Committee from more time before the Finance, 
Organization, and Personnel Committee. She said this letter from herself and Councilors Remy and 
Giacomo was submitted to the Council before the Covid-19 pandemic, and before the City has 
acquired the technology to support the Council through the pandemic. She said it was timely that it 
was back before the Committee now that they could speak to the issue with more experience, and 
there is now the equipment available in the Council Chambers to support remote participation.

Chair Bosley welcomed Councilor Michael Remy to speak to this issue. Councilor Remy said they 
actually submitted this letter shortly into the pandemic, asking for the ability to continue doing 
participating remotely after the pandemic emergency order ended. He said the Council had proven it 
was capable of holding meetings with some of its members remote.  He said there had been some 
bumps and occasional technical difficulties, but that the vast majority of the time it had worked 
perfectly.  Personally, Councilor Remy said his initial reason for submitting this letter was because 
remote participation would allow a broader group of the community to potentially hold future City 
Council seats; he cited it being very difficult for him as a person who travels for work, and challenges 
for others on Council with children. He cited other situations like someone’s car breaking down. 
Councilor Remy stated that he did not personally see the need to limit the reasons. He understood 
why some wanted to limit the reasons, noting that there could be an abuse of the privilege. 
Personally, Councilor Remy did not think anyone who abused remote participation would be re-
elected, which was where he thought accountability would come into play. He appreciated the 
interest in putting restrictions on the ability, like not allowing it for vacations longer than two weeks. 

Page 34 of 83



Councilor Remy stated his position that remote participation would largely allow for broadening who 
can participate on the City Council, and he thought any step in that direction was a great thing.

Councilor Giacomo said he had been reading through some of the drafts that this Committee had 
worked on and stated that he agreed there were a number of things he would consider as 
reasonable reasons to be absent from a meeting. He said that trying to outline all those reasons 
could go on forever and would be fruitless. However, he said that keeping it as strict as had been 
proposed did not necessarily accomplish what the original intent of this was, which was to open the 
Council to be more accessible to those who cannot always be there. He was especially referring to 
parents, because he only saw a death in the family as the only reason listed regarding family, which 
he did not want to be the only reason. He thought it was something missed in the earlier draft. He 
said he understood physical disability, having recently needed to miss a meeting entirely. Vice Chair 
Giacomo said he understood the great need for Councilors to contribute at every meeting because 
that it what they are elected for. If he had the option to participate remotely during the situation he 
cited, he would have. He thought there was a big change from earlier drafts, with many things fine-
tuned. He thought this was more relevant now than when the letter was submitted, despite needed 
some edits.

Councilor Bosley reminded everyone that the previous Planning, Licenses, and Development 
Committee did a lot of work with the City Attorney to draft the language that was presented to, the 
Council.  That draft was not adopted by the Council last year and she did not want to see the new 
draft’s verbiage fall apart on the Council floor. Thus, she asked the Committee to really work through 
the language thoughtfully at this meeting. Ultimately, Chair Bosley believed that there needed to be 
allowance for some form of remote participation. While she did not claim to know the perfect 
language, she thought the Committee could really flesh it out. To Vice Chair Giacomo’s point, the 
Chair had to bring her daughter to this meeting to sit in the audience because of the Chair’s 
obligation to be present. She said that someone without childcare might be able to participate 
remotely and perhaps some of these decisions should be at the Chair’s discretion. She said the 
Committee should perhaps outline broader things that would always be permissible for remote 
participation, with an additional opportunity for the Chair’s discretion. Chair Bosley cited the poor 
road conditions getting to this meeting this evening and she thought that remote participation could 
have been allowed as long as a quorum was present in the room, which was allowed under the State 
law.  However, she said the Council made it very clear last year that they want some guidelines set 
for this. She said the Committee could also “beat this to death at this meeting, send it to Council next 
week, and watch it all happen again in this room.” The Chair asked the Committee to be 
conscientious of that while discussing the proposed language.

Councilor Remy highlighted that this matter was not adopted by Council the last time it was heard, 
and noted that was because one Councilor was absent, who could possibly have been participating 
remotely that could have made a difference. He said that went to show that when someone is absent, 
the rest of the Council might not represent their interests, as it had been suggested they would. 
Councilor Remy said that one vote does matter.

Chair Bosley said she had just a few short years on Council and recently saw a split vote at City 
Council because a member was absent, which she said really goes to show that every vote 
matters—in greater elections and when voting at Committee. She had personally voiced that she 
wanted to see this language regarding remote participation as broad as possible and to let the public 
tell Councilors when they think it is being abused. However, she said she understood and was willing 
to compromise and find a happy medium where everyone was comfortable with a version moving 
forward.

Councilor Johnsen thought the Chair really said it well. She continued that when she looked outside 

Page 35 of 83



this evening, she was unsure how she could drive in the unplowed conditions and was really scared. 
Had the Chair not been kind enough to pick her up in her four-wheel drive vehicle, she said she 
would have likely ended up in a ditch trying to get down her hill. The Councilor cited another time she 
wanted to participate via Zoom when she had Covid-19 and did not want to miss the meeting, which 
creates a disconnection for her. She said it was really important for Councilors to be a part of 
meetings. Councilor Johnsen said remote participation also helps when someone is not feeling well 
but still wants to connect. She hoped the Council could do something about this. She does not 
believe in missing meetings and Councilors should do everything possible to be there, but she could 
not have tonight without the ride.

Councilor Ormerod asked if this rule would apply to all City Committees. The City Attorney, said this 
rule regarding remote participation would only apply to the City Council and its Standing Committees. 
Councilor Ormerod asked whether this applied to the Joint Planning Board–Planning, Licenses, and 
Development Committee, and the City Attorney said it applied to half of that Committee.

Councilor Ormerod continued, saying this Council put a lot of effort into writing a statement of 
Diversity and Inclusion, and he thought they needed to show they were up-to-date on where that 
thinking is. He had served on other boards, where there are people with temporary and permanent 
disabilities, who sometimes participate remotely. He said we want to have participation from people 
with younger families as well, too. He added that it was necessary to remember that there are rules 
for participation, and if a body implements rules that are barriers to that participation, they are 
interfering with “our” ability to fulfill “our” duty.  He said there should not be barriers when the 
technology exists and there are a number of ways to do this. Councilor Ormerod strongly supported 
this amendment and said it needed to be in the bylaws so that people could debate it during 
elections if they want to, and bring up others’ participation if they feel they should not be re-elected. 
He said the Council should be more inclusive in taking advantage of the available technology and 
live in this world where many global and local businesses operations are running remotely. Councilor 
Ormerod believed that the Council needed to align with the interests of their constituents by 
operating the same way they do.

Chair Bosley said it sounds as though some consensus was happening at the Committee level and 
she was going to get to public comment shortly. She hoped everyone had read through the 
amendment thoroughly, because she felt the language was fairly broad. She said it started to get into 
physical attendance with, “shall be deemed to not be reasonably practical in the event of …” which 
was where she wondered if the Committee wanted to make any changes to the language. 
Alternatively, the Committee could send the amendment to Council the way it was.

Vice Chair Giacomo agreed that the rest of the amendment seemed pretty rational until it reached 
“reasonably practical,” which he thought was subjective and he does not care for subjective 
language. After that language, he thought this Committee needed to figure out what would happen 
and what this might be. He said there could be legal issues with this as well; obviously a quorum 
must still be present in the room. He wondered whether there was any legal reason why discretion of 
the Chair or a vote of the quorum present are not effective ways of allowing the remote participation.

The City Attorney said this would always fall back on the State Statute, which says that a public body 
may allow remote participation. He said the Committee could write into the amendment that the Chair 
has discretion. However, he said there were two issues: 1) if there is consensus as there is often, 
then the result is the decision of the Chair, though the body has the right to challenge the Chair’s 
decision with a proper motion, and 2) this is a minor factor, but he said the Council often stumbles 
over too much discretion, and there is always a possible situation when that discretion could be used 
inappropriately. Thus, he suggested language for the amendment that is not too ambiguous, and he 
felt that discretion of the Chair and body could be very ambiguous.

Page 36 of 83



Councilor Remy said he would potentially challenge that it could be written as “physical attendance 
shall be deemed to not be reasonably practical at the discretion of the Chair” or the physical body 
present.” He said that would take away the restrictions and leave it up to the individual to state why 
they cannot be reasonably present, in addition to the fact that abuse would not lead to re-election.

The City Attorney commented that the Councilors should remember that, yes, an individual can state 
that it is not reasonably practical to be physically present, but it would still be at the discretion of the 
body whether to allow that. The Chair said that in the State Statute, every time a remote participation 
request is made, the body still must vote; for instance, if someone had requested to participate 
remotely in this meeting, she would have opened the meeting, explained the request, and then asked 
the Committee for a vote of confidence. The City Attorney said this goes back to the discretion; the 
Chair could simply state they were inclined to allow the remote participation if no one on the 
Committee objected. Not each request must be called to a vote. The Chair asked whether the 
individual would need to state their reason. The City Attorney said the individual would still have to 
state why.

Councilor Remy asked whether it would be reasonably defensible to say that by a super majority of 
10 having to approve this change to the Rules of Order that they are thereby authorizing that. He 
asked the City Attorney whether by approving this Rule amendment authority for every request being 
authorized moving forward. The City Attorney said the individual would still have to state why, and if 
the Council had a rule, the individuals’ reason would have to fall within that rule. Then, the individual 
would still have to state their reason to the body and the body would still have the right to deny that 
request. He said that at that point, this would only be a guideline for the body to consider the request; 
it does fall within particular parameters, yes, but there still may be some reason by the body decides 
that that action is inappropriate.

Councilor Johnsen added something that was helpful as a member of the Heritage Commission 
today during this weather, which was that as soon as she alerted the Commission that she was 
unable to travel, they had her (and others) on Zoom in no time. While she could not vote, she said 
they are working on some huge projects, and it was wonderful to be able to continue that 
conversation and not stop the process. Chair Bosley noted that Councilor Johnsen was identifying an 
incident where it was helpful to have the Zoom technology available. Chair Bosley continued that she 
does worry, because for every meeting, there are a lot of reasons/obligations that people have not 
been able to or will not be able to participate in the future. She said it was a concern of hers. She 
said that remote participation would not allow fixing any of that because a quorum must be physically 
present still, but it does allow some leniency. Chair Bosley would have loved to allow Councilor 
Johnsen to participate remotely for this meeting, so that she could have participated in this 
conversation and not been in danger.

Chair Bosley opened the floor to public comment.

City Councilor Randy Filiault said it would be no surprise that he was adamantly opposed to any 
change to this Rule of Order. He said Keene was incorporated as a City in 1874 and stated that he 
was not implying things should stay the way they had always been, but added that in a way his 
feeling was, “If it ain’t broke, don’t fix it.” He realized there was technology but said having the 
technology did not make it better. He said there was a 15-member Council and if a few cannot make 
it to a meeting, the remaining Councilors would pick-up the slack until they could come back. He said 
they were “opening a can of worms” with this amendment.  He said someone must alert the City 
Manager and Mayor within 24 hours if they cannot be present and then it is at the prerogative of the 
Council whether to allow remote participation. He envisioned challenges leading to a lawsuit when 
telling one Councilor they could participate remotely and then telling another they could not. He knew 

Page 37 of 83



that some Councilors were just trying to open it up a bit and be fair, but he only thought it was 
opening to a bunch of lawsuits. He said if you cannot make it to a Council meeting, then you cannot, 
and not everyone can make it to a Council meeting. He asked that if trying to open this up to 
everybody, for example, what do you do with the people who work second shifts but who want to be 
City Councilors; “do we give them an extra hour of work or let them go in later?” He said there is a 
whole group of people like those who work second shifts who want to be City Councilors but 
cannot.  He said sometimes Councilors’ jobs impede them being at Council meetings or they do not 
feel well and do not make it, and they just have to stay home and allow the rest of the Council to get 
the job done. Councilor Filiault stated that this had never been a problem in the past and he “thinks it 
is all just kind of individual egos that want to do this, like I have to be out-of-town all the time.” He 
said if you cannot make it to a meeting then you cannot. The Councilor said this was the City of 
Keene and it was not like the Councilors were state representatives who needed to drive two hours 
to Concord in a snowstorm. He said all Councilors live in town and can make it to meetings, like they 
have been since the 1800s. Councilor Filiault repeated that allowing remote access was opening a 
can of worms and that he could not predict the future legal ramifications. He thanked the Committee 
for their time.

Chair Bosley wanted to point out a few of Councilor Filiault’s comments, like that this has worked 
since the 1800s. She said that may have been true for a certain number of people but that our 
Council had not been diverse at all, which she said was sad. She thought there was an opportunity to 
change that with this amendment, or to give a perception to people that they might have some more 
access to serve in this role in our community. Chair Bosley said that if the opportunity exists, why not 
offer it to people. She also thought there should be some things listed under “reasonably practical” 
that are outlined very clearly, like health issues, disability, and possibly out-of-town employment 
responsibilities. She continued that then perhaps there was appropriate terminology for the Chair’s 
discretion, for instance, in a childcare or road condition situation. She thought there needed to be 
some sort of decision-making process. She said she was able to make it to this meeting, but that she 
almost made contact with a City vehicle in the process because of the conditions. Thus, if she had a 
Councilor who lived downtown and could make it to City Hall easily, she would use her discretion 
expect them to be at the meeting, versus a situation like Councilor Johnsen’s, for example. She did 
not think that the Chairs should be deciding whose health issues or disabilities are more important 
that others’. These examples are reasons why she wanted more specific language and a broad list of 
categories that are deemed acceptable. She thinks that offering this accommodation to someone 
with a disability is essential to avoid lawsuits. Chair Bosley continued that the City invested in the 
remote participation technology and should use it. She welcomed comments and edits from her 
fellow Councilors.

Councilor Giacomo knew the death in the family and vacation for two weeks were added after the 
original language and thought that then then could say “other extenuating circumstances as allowed 
by the Committee Chair.” The City Attorney said to keep it within the language used by the Statute, 
so at the end of this proposed list it could say “or otherwise at the reasonable discretion of the public 
body,” which means if no one objects to a Chair’s discretion to allow remote participation, it would be 
allowed. He said that still preserves the right that already exists for a member of the body to object.

Councilor Ormerod asked, when someone objects, if it would still be up to the Chair to make the 
ruling or would they need 100% consensus to continue. The City Attorney said it would be a vote 
under the Rules that exist now; the objection to the Chair’s decision would be put to a simple majority 
vote. Chair Bosley inquired whether the member participating remotely would vote and the City 
Attorney responded at that point they would not be considered a member of the body.

The Chair asked whether the committee was comfortable, at the end of “responsibilities,” inserting 
the City Attorney’s language in place of the yellow highlighted portion of the document in from of 

Page 38 of 83



them. The City Attorney clarified that would mean the Committee wanted him to strike the proposed 
language on vacations and family death provisions. He wanted to be sure he was clear about how 
the Committee wanted the language drafted. Chair Bosley said yes, because that allows that public 
body to make those decisions on an individual basis, which she believed still left protection for health 
issues, disability, and employment responsibilities that all received support at full Council. Then, it 
would allow some grey areas for things like childcare, road conditions, and a death in the family.

The City Attorney he wanted to tune-up an earlier comment. He continued that once this Rule is in 
place, if an individual clearly states that their reason for being unable to participate is one of those 
three specifically permitted reasons, then it would be problematic and very difficult to say no to that 
and doing so would require a two-thirds vote because it would be a Rule at that point. The Chair said 
she was comfortable with that.

Councilor Johnsen directed her comment to Councilor Filiault, stating that she would not have been 
able to drive tonight, and she does not want to be left out. She anticipated that she was the oldest 
City Councilor at present, that she knows she brings a lot to the Council, and she enjoys being 
present.

Chair Bosley said it seemed the Committee had cleaned-up the language some. Seeing no further 
comments from the Committee, she asked what the Committee’s intention was. She asked where 
this the amendment that the City Attorney is drafting with Committee guidance would go next. The 
City Attorney replied that it would still just be a recommendation and the language could be available 
at the next Council meeting, but the Council had not yet voted to include this in their rules. In 
response to the Chair, the City Attorney said that would be accomplished by stating the 
recommended motion that the City Attorney draft an amendment to Section 4 in accordance with the 
background notes of the PLD Committee’s discussion. Then the City Attorney would prepare and 
submit proposed language that would not be operative until the City actually voted.

Councilor Johnsen asked if the City Manager had comments on this. The City Manager replied with 
gratitude for being asked. The City Manager said she understood both sides of this issue and she 
knew that some communities had really struggled with this. She said that some communities had 
created very liberal rules for remote participation, which had created quorum issues for them. She 
continued that other communities struggled with this topic because they had not invested in the 
equipment that the City had to make this successful. Thus, the City Manager was happy to see some 
guidelines because she was nervous about leaving it too vague. She said it would be much harder to 
leave the decision strictly to the Chairs. She thought the Committee had struck a good balance.

Chair Bosley welcomed remaining public comments and recognized Danya Landis of 433 Elm Street. 
Ms. Landis did not plan to stay for this portion of the meeting but found it quite interesting. She 
wanted to remind everyone how lucky we are to have so many young people on City Council, which 
she said was not typical in NH or New England as a whole and we want to continue that. She thought 
it was great the Council was even talking about this and hoped that it passed because she wants 
people in her generation to have the opportunity to raise their voice and talk; this is the way our world 
is moving and people with young families and young professionals who travel probably want to be on 
Council and this would give them the chance. She did not want to close those doors. She said this 
was not the 1800s, this is 2022, and she thought it was important to utilize the technology if they 
have it.

With no further comments or questions, Chair Bosley entertained a motion.

Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Johnsen duly seconded.

Page 39 of 83



On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney draft an amendment to Section 4 of the Rules of Order in accordance with the background 
notes of the Committee’s discussion.

Councilor Ormerod asked whether this would be prepared for the next City Council meeting. The City 
Attorney said it would go to the City Council as a recommendation. If the City Council approves it, it 
would still come back to this Committee as a formality under the Rules for an amendment. However, 
because it is a Rule, the City Council could suspend the Rules of Order to act on it at the Council 
meeting. Because this is a change to the Rules, it will ultimately require a two-thirds vote.

Page 40 of 83



Page 41 of 83



Page 42 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.5.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Rules of Order – Section  15 – Conflicts of Interest
  
 
Recommendation:
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney draft an amendment to Section 15 of the Rules of Order in accordance with the background 
notes of the Committee’s discussion.
 
Attachments:
1. Section 15. Rules of Order Amendment
2. Section 15. Rules of Order Amendment - redlined version
 
 
Background:
Chair Bosley said the Committee did a lot of work on this as well last year. She said this issue was 
important to her and she briefly recalled the moment she realized that the Conflict of Interest section 
of the Council’s Rules of Order needed tuning-up. She said the instance regarded a Councilor 
requesting a budget increase for a non-profit board. She said he was green on the Council at the 
time, and it was her first budget season. She was caught off guard and was uncomfortable when it 
happened on the Council floor, and was unclear about her responsibility because it was not spelled 
out clearly anywhere, nor was the individual’s responsibility to disclose. She realized then that the 
Rules needed to be clearer on what the responsibilities as fellow Councilors are when they encounter 
such a situation. Chair Bosley said that an important thing for her was adding the obligation for 
members to complete what the Rules refer to as a Statement of Interests, which “shall identify each 
person in a Councilor’s household or persons, employers, and any boards and commissions, 
organizations, and associations, or other entity which person is a member of, and whether the person 
holds a leadership position in that organization. The Statements of Interest shall be available at the 
office of the City Clerk for public inspection.” She said this Council had talked a lot about 
transparency and that this was just another opportunity to prove they were being transparent. She 
said there were a lot of grey areas, and they should always err on the side of caution. The Council 
would make the decision whether someone is recused. Still, the Chair said not having that 
information available publicly would diminish transparency. She said she loved the language that the 
PLD Committee had worked on and thought it was smart.  She thought it missed the mark because 
the greater document failed last year. She hoped that they could clean-up the language and get it 
back in front of the full Council again. She welcomed comments and questions from the Committee.

Page 43 of 83



Vice Chair Giacomo said he was not on the Council when they voted on this matter last time. He 
continued stating that he has a serious problem with the end of the first full paragraph. He was fine 
with it saying “membership and organization generally, and not in the leadership capacity, shall not 
be considered personal conflict of interest.” However, he found the next sentence deeply 
problematic: “A conflict of interest shall be deemed to exist when a Councilor’s spouse, parent, child, 
or other member of the Councilor's immediate family has a conflict of interest.” Vice Chair Giacomo 
said they had just finished defining a conflict of interest as either pecuniary or personal and thus 
having a child in a certain program that the City sends something to, that child would not be getting a 
benefit. He added that “child” is not restricted to kids and until very recently a majority of the Council 
had children of adult ages, who do not live at home. He thought that if there was going to be a family 
clause, it had to be strictly pecuniary interest, otherwise it would get into a complicated grey area 
very quickly. He thought the list he quoted could be pared down to the spouse or other person who 
contributes to the household income to keep it about finances. While that section did not work for 
him, he thought it was a good amendment overall.

Councilor Ormerod said he had a similar question, wanting to understand the intent, because it 
seemed far reaching to include children, parents, and siblings. In his case he has five siblings living 
in three different countries on a number of boards that could someday move to Keene. He really 
wanted to understand that it seemed that if the Council wants to disclose all the boards they are on, 
do they have to declare all the boards their family members are on too? He sought clarification and 
guidance on what seemed pretty onerous. Would it have to be done each January? Say he changes 
boards in the middle of the year, or his small company is sold to a larger global player.  He thought 
pecuniary interest was a good idea to simplify things but he was truly trying to understand the intent 
to arrive at something less onerous.

Chair Bosley said that in her situation, she asked the Council to recuse her for her spouse’s 
employment over a financial matter, because the employer was requesting City funds. While she 
would not say which way she would have voted, but if she had voted against it, that could negatively 
impact her spouse’s employment if they thought his wife was unsupportive. She did not know 
whether she was far reaching, but she felt that there was a really close connection with spouses. 
However, she did not think this needed to go as far as parents and children; her mind went to adult 
children and not preschool. Thus, she wanted this section tuned-up and asked the City Attorney if it 
was possible. The City Attorney replied in the affirmative, stating that the language presented was 
the original Conflict of Interest clause, when there was no personal interest, only pecuniary. Over 
time, he said that questions and concerns were raised about personal aspects in addition to financial. 
The old Rule also included fiduciary obligations, which generally requires a lawyer to figure out. 
Whereas he said one does not have to be a lawyer to identify an individual who might be voting on 
something they could receive money from. Thus, he said the presented language was a way to try 
moving away from fiduciary aspects toward a more generalized personal aspect that people can 
understand. Back to the specific point, the City Attorney said he could craft language that basically 
says for spouses, parents, children or other members of the household, that it must be a pecuniary 
interest, to remove this issue; it does not matter whether an adult or minor child is in or out of the 
household, if there is a pecuniary interest and financial advantage it would be a conflict of interest. 
He would craft the language making it specifically pecuniary.

Councilor Ormerod still wondered about the Statements of Interest. He wondered about if a Councilor 
is a shareholder in a place, which are often private and non-disclosable, so he was trying to 
understand the intent of that. He was also trying to understand, for example, if a Councilor who 
invests thematically and handles that through a third party, whether that is cleared from fiduciary. He 
wants to have people who to invest in the community, bring more business, create economic 
development, grow the tax base, and provide the quality of life. He thought some clarification on that 

Page 44 of 83



would help. He asked the intent and burden/scope of the Declaration of Interests. The City Attorney 
said it was fairly narrow and it was modeled to a small extent on the statement that is required by 
individuals who sit on boards for the State of NH. This applies to identifying one’s employer but that 
does not mean that you must disclose your status as a shareholder in a corporation. On the other 
issue of boards, commissions, or organizations of which you are a member, the City Attorney said 
that you would simply disclose those, but it only means something if you are in a leadership role, 
which must be disclosed. He said it was drafted with the intention to not reach further than that.

Councilor Ormerod asked how often the Statement of Interests must be updated and the City 
Attorney said annually each January. Councilor Ormerod posited that he was serving in a leadership 
capacity on a board that were absorbed by a larger corporation, whether he would have to notify the 
City Clerk immediately of an updated membership or just each January. The City Attorney said there 
were two reasons for this: 1) to let the world know to the extent that they want to know. It only must 
be updated once per year in January. However, if a Councilor’s personal circumstances change 
during the year and now fall within the conflict of interest policy, it would be incumbent on the 
Councilor to disclose to the City Clerk and City Council, which would determine whether it was a true 
conflict. Chair Bosley thought it only really happened when a negotiation or a financial matter comes 
before the Council; she thought the Keene Young Professionals Network (YPN) was a good 
example, with Councilors sitting on that Board and coming to the Council asking for a license. She 
said there was no financial gain for the YPN for that license, but they are going to the Finance, 
Organization, and Personnel Committee seeking funds, which changes the conversations. The Chair 
thought that those were the subtle nuances that need to be exposed on when it is appropriate to 
disclose a conflict and to allow the Council to decide whether to err on the side of caution; as 
opposed to an individual sitting quietly with the knowledge that they could be doing something that 
could be perceived as un-transparent.

Councilor Ormerod said he could go for that. He had questions on the employment issue because he 
is self-employed and has sources of passive income like many others, all of which he said would be 
onerous to list. The City Attorney replied that if you are self-employed, you simply must list that, no 
clients or anything else.

The City Attorney noticed that the word “household” was undefined in the Rules, which he would 
rectify. So, he would make a defined phrase for “household” as the pecuniary interests regarding 
parents, children, or other immediate members of a Councilor’s family.

Chair Bosley pointed out a housekeeping issue under quorum and remote participation, where there 
was still reference to a “Chairman,” which should be changed to “Chair.” The City Attorney agreed.

Vice Chair Giacomo thought that like anything, there were a lot of “devils in the details” on this 
matter. Regarding Councilors who sit on other boards, he said the Keene YPN instance presented a 
really curious situation because the YPN is not its own organization, but merely a sub-organization 
under Hannah Grimes, which is the actual fiscal agent and 501(c)3 partner for the YPN. Thus where 
the money for the festival was going got quite confusing. He said this brought up that one person on 
“our Board” was also on the Hannah Grimes Board and controls their checkbooks, bank accounts, 
and everything else. So, he said there could be “weirdness that arises with this.” Ultimately, he said it 
was about being honest and declaring what you can and being open about. Vice Chair Giacomo said 
that last year at the FOP meeting vote on the YPN money, Councilors Giacomo and Remy offered, 
and the Council voted to recuse them. It was a split vote, however, with only half the Council seeing 
the conflict.  He said it is about honesty and not about trying to find loopholes.

The Chair thought that ultimately, everyone wanted to walk away from making these decisions 
feeling good about the fact that everyone came to the table with good intentions. She said that was it 

Page 45 of 83



for her. Additionally, Chair Bosley said she believed that even in the situation she cited earlier, there 
were not bad intentions, but it did not feel right to her. She said from the public perception, there 
were any number of ways to spin things and everyone is human and should just do as well as they 
can each day. The Chair thought this was a good move forward.

The City Attorney confirmed that a draft would go to Council and then would come back to PLD for 
one more vote, unless the Rules of Order were suspended at the Council meeting.

Councilor Remy said the only thought he had when getting into employment and sources of income 
was that “substantial” sources of income might be more appropriate. He thinks that if he received $1 
million each year from a park organization that was influencing his decision to make more parks in 
the City, but it was not his employer, it would still influence his decision and be a conflict of interest. 
He understood that it towed the line of campaign matters but thought it was conflict. The City 
Attorney clarified that the Councilor was saying that if for some reason a Councilor received funding 
in some fashion from a parks organization and there was a matter before the council dealing with a 
change to City parks, which Councilor Remy was saying would trigger a conflict of interest for him. 
Councilor Remy replied in the affirmative. He said, for example, if he received a significant campaign 
contribution as source of income and the donor came before the Council asking for something, he 
thought that would be a conflict of interest. He did not think anyone was getting substantial campaign 
contributions, but thought to Councilor Ormerod’s point, that there were other sources of income that 
can generate conflicts.

The City Attorney said at some point he would have to default because you cannot draft over 
everything. He had to default back to what they just talked about—you have to act in good faith and if 
you are not going to, there is no policy in the world that can catch that unless someone calls it out in 
another manner. Thus, he said he did not want to make the language so complicated that it is hard to 
understand and apply. The City Attorney thought the high points of risk were whether someone is 
getting money directly for something before the Council as a clear pecuniary interest that someone 
should not vote on or whether someone has a personal interest like the one Councilor Remy 
described where it is not directly pecuniary.

Chair Bosley provided an example. She posited that a Councilor had a piece of real estate they 
wanted to sell to the City, but their employment is not selling real estate. She did not think that 
Councilor should vote on the City’s decision to purchase the land. The City Attorney confirmed that 
would be a pecuniary interest. The Chair continued stating that invariably what the City Attorney was 
saying was that if an individual had an interest in some organization and a contract with the City were 
negotiated, it would also be a conflict.

The City Manager said they were trying to get at the idea of even if it is not one’s employer. For 
example, if a self-employed Councilor had a contract with Stantec and received a substantial amount 
of money from them, that would be a financial interest but not a direct employer. Councilor Remy 
said he was trying to account for those things outside a direct employer. He considered the 
Statement of Interest and the Chair agreed, asking how far that should go. The City Attorney 
reminded that they were conflating things at this point. He said the language regarding pecuniary 
interest is fairly broad and would cover the situation the City Manager just explained, but it would not 
fall into a Statement of Interest potentially, because it does not fall into one of those categories. The 
City Attorney continued that the Statement of Interest is sort of an alert to what these categories are, 
it does not remove the obligation for the individual to state that they have a conflict.

Chair Bosley thought education of the Council about this particular Rule was needed in addition to 
cleaning-up the language. She said the Rules are a lot to absorb as a new Councilors and ongoing 
education is important. The Chair requested comments from her peers on the Committee to ensure 

Page 46 of 83



everyone was on the same page.

Councilor Johnsen stated that three Councilors were recently elected to the Keene School Board and 
wondered if there would be a point at which they have a conflict. The City Attorney said to remember 
that this is about pecuniary interest in a private financial matter that is generally unavailable to the 
public, which is the same reason that Councilors can vote on the budget even though they are 
taxpayers; it is why Councilors can vote on the Zoning Ordinance even though they may be subject 
to the Ordinance. Those members would need to state that they are on the School Board.

The Chair asked about the Wilson Dam project. The City Attorney stating that it would present a 
more direct issue because that is a direct cost to their employer and not to the Board they are on, so 
it would fall into that same sort of gap category. The City Attorney said that if a Councilor is in a 
leadership position on a Board that would benefit from a negotiation with the City then they should 
recuse.

The Chair said they could come up with a million scenarios. She thought having this conversation 
was the important part because it planted these seeds with people, who can ask further questions of 
the City Attorney. The Chair felt they had some direction and with no further comments, she 
entertained a motion.

Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Ormerod duly seconded.

On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney draft an amendment to Section 15 of the Rules of Order in accordance with the background 
notes of the Committee’s discussion.

Page 47 of 83



Page 48 of 83



Page 49 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.6.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Acceptance of 2022 Wellness Grant - Human Resources Director
  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept the wellness grant from HealthTrust to be 
used for employee wellness activities in 2022.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Assistant City Manager/Human Resources Director Beth Fox addressed the Committee first and 
stated the City’s wellness coordinators implement programs related to wellness and health activities 
for employees in the organization. She noted this program has been in effect for three years and staff 
would like to continue the program.

Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept the wellness grant from HealthTrust to be 
used for employee wellness activities in 2022.

Page 50 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.7.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Acceptance of the Locality Equipment Matching Program Grant - Fire 
Department

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Council authorize the City Manager to do all things necessary to accept and expend the GOEFERR 
Locality Equipment Matching Program Grant.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Deputy Fire Chief Donald Farquhar stated this grant for the Fire Department comes from the 
GOEFERR Locality Equipment Program Matching Grant. This grant in the amount of $49,342 was 
designed to asset costs associated with Covid 19. The City’s match would be $5,482, which will 
come out of the normal operating budget for equipment.

This Deputy Chief stated this grant allows the department to purchase several valuable pieces of 
equipment, all of which were slated for future years CIP projects. This grant will allow the department 
to purchase two Lucas 3 devices, which is a mechanical chess compression device, an excellent tool 
for mechanical CPR. The department will also be able to purchase 10 new AED’s which will be 
distributed throughout the Fire Department fleet, which allows a greater chance for the first arriving 
Fire Department to have an AED on board.  The third item purchased will be a Nitrinox System which 
is a system that delivers nitrous oxide for pain relief.

Councilor Madison made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Council authorize the City Manager to do all things necessary to accept and expend the GOEFERR 
Locality Equipment Matching Program Grant.

Page 51 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.8.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Negotiate Lease of Airport Property - Airport Director
  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager or her designee be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a lease 
agreement with Mr. Kevin Provost for land associated with a privately owned hangar.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Airport, Director, David Hickling was the next to address the Committee regarding a lease negotiation 
with Kevin Provost, owner and operator of Monadnock Choppers, a flight school. This is a lease for 
property that is under a hangar, which Mr. Provost owns and there are no more renewal options on 
this lease. As a result, staff is looking to do a new lease for that land which is under his private 
hangar. Mr. Hickling noted this business is growing and is looking to expand and maybe build a new 
hangar sometime in the future.

Councilor Remy made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Chadbourne.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager or her designee be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a lease 
agreement with Mr. Kevin Provost for land associated with a privately owned hangar.

Page 52 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.9.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Airport Operating Rights Agreement - Monadnock Choppers - Airport 
Director

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager or her designee be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute an 
Operating Rights Agreement with Monadnock Choppers to provide aircraft maintenance services at 
the Keene Dillant-Hopkins Airport.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Mr. Hickling addressed this item as well. He indicated the airport is doing well and currently has only 
one provider for aircraft maintenance, Monadnock Aviation.  Mr. Hickling stated Mr. Provost and 
Monadnock Choppers have qualified aircraft mechanics who are FAA certified and meet the 
minimum standards to be able to provide these services. Mr. Provost is looking for an operating 
agreement to be able to provide these services.

Mr. Hickling stated this will provide for a few things; it will keep some of the based aircraft from going 
to other airports to get their maintenance or having to wait months to get in with the current provider. 
This will provide additional revenue for the airport if these maintenance services are provided here.

Councilor Remy asked how much of this revenue comes into the City. Mr. Hickling stated a certain 
percentage comes to the City.  The percentage would be negotiated into the agreement – it would be 
2% to 3% and based on the volume of business and percentage of revenue.

Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager or her designee be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute an 
Operating Rights Agreement with Monadnock Choppers to provide aircraft maintenance services at 
the Keene Dillant-Hopkins Airport.

Page 53 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.10.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Airport Engineering and Architectural Services - Airport Director
  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to enter into an agreement with McFarland 
Johnson Inc. for Airport Engineering and Architectural Services for the Keene Dillant-Hopkins Airport.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Mr. Hickling stated this request is to enter into an agreement with an engineering consultant for 
airport capital projects. Mr. Hickling stated the airport has been working with the current engineer for 
about 5 years. He noted the FAA recommends that every 5 years other sources for airport 
engineering and architectural services be sought out.

At the end of December, responses from a Request for Proposals were received. The four proposals 
were reviewed by City staff based on certain criteria. McFarland Johnson was the selected candidate 
to complete this work. Mr. Hickling indicated one of the things they look for is somebody who has 
experience with Airports, FAA Funding sources and Federal Aviation Regulations. McFarland 
Johnson really stands out in this respect as 50% of the work they do is airport work.

Mr. Hickling stated another aspect that they looked for was a company that had experience with 
renewable energy, which they demonstrated they did in their proposal. Another aspect they 
demonstrated is experience with diverse funding.

Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to enter into an agreement with McFarland 
Johnson Inc. for Airport Engineering and Architectural Services for the Keene Dillant-Hopkins Airport.

Page 54 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.11.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Professional Services Contract for Mapping City Cemeteries and 
Associated Software - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the City Manager 
be authorized to do all things necessary to approve the expenditure of Cemetery Trust Fund B – 
Capital Reserve for $8,000 ($5,000 mapping + $3,000 annual maintenance fee) to hire Bahar 
Mapping for a professional services contract to map the City cemeteries, which includes an 
interactive navigation station that allows the ability for cemetery guests to "find their love one.” In 
addition, the authorization includes approval for up to 3 years of an annual maintenance fee of 
$3,000, which may include a periodic increase.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director Andy Bohannon was the next speaker. Mr. Bohannon stated 
this request is regarding funding for mapping services of City cemeteries. This is a software system 
that can be used to find somebody’s loved one.

In 2011, the City was on an oracle platform and were able to create in-house service, which software 
was eventually sunset. In 2017, the City was going to be replacing that particular software with a 
bigger package for cemeteries, and at the same time the City was looking at Cart-a-graph, an asset 
management tool. Cart-a-graph is not meant to be used as a cemetery database and there is no 
public interface with it. So people who want to access their genealogy are not able to log in and find 
the location of their family members.

Mr. Bohannon stated the software being proposed will navigate some of these challenges.  The 
application will be able to use data from the City’s GIS system, which was used to map the City’s 
cemeteries.  He added there will be a $3,000 annual fee.  What is being proposed would give 
individuals the opportunity on their phone, laptop, or any other device to look up their ancestors and it 
will produce something similar to a Google map to find the particular location. Mr. Bohannon stated 
the funds for this project comes from the Cemetery Trust.  The Trustees have already approved the 
funds. Mr. Bohannon stated what he is looking for is the initial $5,000 for mapping fees and the 

Page 55 of 83



$3,000 annual maintenance fee. He added if the City is not happy with the service it can be 
terminated at any time.

Councilor Remy asked whether there would be any type of signage located at the entrance to the 
cemeteries to inform people this service exists. Mr. Bohannon answered in the affirmative and added 
a QR Code will be added directing people to the website.

Chadbourne asked how many cemeteries the City has. Mr. Bohannon stated the City has nine 
cemeteries of those three are more historical. The historical cemeteries are located on Washington 
Street, one by the Country Club and one on Hurricane Road. The Councilor felt this was a great 
service at a reasonable price, but asked if there was user fee. Mr. Bohannon answered in the 
negative. Mr. Bohannon added part of the reason for the low fee is because of the all the work that 
has been done to this point with our mapping.

The Chair felt this was a great plan.

Councilor Madison made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the City Manager 
be authorized to do all things necessary to approve the expenditure of Cemetery Trust Fund B – 
Capital Reserve for $8,000 ($5,000 mapping + $3,000 annual maintenance fee) to hire Bahar 
Mapping for a professional services contract to map the City cemeteries, which includes an 
interactive navigation station that allows the ability for cemetery guests to "find their love one.” In 
addition, the authorization includes approval for up to 3 years of an annual maintenance fee of 
$3,000, which may include a periodic increase.

Page 56 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.12.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Body Worn Camera and In-Car Video System Implementation - Police 
Department

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to begin implementation of the Body Worn Camera 
and In-Car Video program; to apply for, accept and expend any available grant funding related to the 
Body Worn Camera program funding; and pursuant to Section 2-1336 of the City of Keene Code of 
Ordinances, waive bidding requirements in Section 2-1332 (1), and Section 2-1335 as recommended 
by the City Manager.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Police Captain Todd Lawrence stated he was before the Committee to address body worn cameras 
and the in-car video implementation. He indicated in June 2020 as a result of a directive put forth by 
the City Council which tasked the City Manager to have the Keene Police Department research the 
implementation of a body worn camera system; the department formed a committee and in July 2020 
had several vendors provide quotes for review.

The Committee selected one vendor out of the group that provided a demonstration; Body Worn by 
the Pylon Corporation. On August 27, 2020 the Police Chief came before this committee in order to 
present the initial findings of the demonstrations and to seek approval to move forward with an 
evaluation period with the body worn camera system. The Council approved that trial and the 
evaluation period occurred in November of 2020. Findings from that trial were presented to this 
Committee on February 11, 2021. Staff’s recommendation at that time was to delay any decision until 
other funding was available through either State or Federal legislation.

At the present time the Department has applied for the United States Department of Justice Body 
Worn matching grant up to $100,000, and also the State of New Hampshire Body Worn Camera 
matching Grant up to $50,000. The current cost of a five-year paid upfront contract for 44 body worn 
cameras and 16 car cameras is at a cost of $445,025. This would be for the equipment, the software 
used to operate the system and support for that system. There will also be training involved which is 

Page 57 of 83



an additional $39,690. If the matching funds of $150,000 are obtained, it would leave Keene with total 
costs of $334,715 for this five-year program.

Councilor Remy asked the City Attorney if his office was ready to support this action when it goes 
live. Attorney Mullins stated they are in the process of setting that up.

Chair Powers asked the Manager to explain how the rest of the funding was going to be calculated in 
the financing. The City Manager stated they will be taking the City's portion of funds from an account 
that they created called the Police Department Equipment. The Fund currently has a balance of 
$460,000. The Chair noted as a result no monies are being added to the budget for the next year and 
because this is a five year program, staff will be back in five years to discuss how the funding will 
continue for the future. The Manager stated staff will be back next year to put this initiative into the 
capital plan.

Councilor Madison asked whether these funds include the costs associated with record keeping and 
maintaining the video recordings.  Captain Lawrence responded the software includes the storage of 
videos and data.

Councilor Remy noted this action came about because of a petition from the public.  He asked 
whether the Police Department was in support of this action as well. Captain Lawrence answered in 
the affirmative.

Councilor Remy made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Chadbourne.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to begin implementation of the Body Worn Camera 
and In-Car Video program; to apply for, accept and expend any available grant funding related to the 
Body Worn Camera program funding; and pursuant to Section 2-1336 of the City of Keene Code of 
Ordinances, waive bidding requirements in Section 2-1332 (1), and Section 2-1335 as recommended 
by the City Manager.

Page 58 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.13.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Winchester Street Reconstruction – Consultant Selection for Construction 
Engineering Services - City Engineer, and
Winchester Street Reconstruction – Design Consultant Services for 
Construction Support Services - City Engineer

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a professional service 
contract with Greenman-Pedersen, Inc., (GPI) for an amount not to exceed $670,000 for 
Construction Engineering Services required for the Winchester Street Reconstruction Project.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a professional service 
contract with McFarland Johnson, Inc., for an amount not to exceed $70,000 for Construction 
Support Services required for the Winchester Street Reconstruction Project.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Mr. Lussier stated these two items are related to contracts to get the project just discussed 
completed. The first contract is with Greenman-Pedersen, Inc., (GPI), for construction administration 
and oversight for the project.  Mr. Lussier stated Federal Highway no longer allows the Design 
Engineer to oversee the construction phase and a different consultant has to be hired to oversee the 
work and this is what GPI will be doing.

The second Memorandum is for a smaller contract with McFarland Johnson, the design engineer. 
They will be involved in the project, but more as an expert providing information which only a design 
engineer can do. Day to day oversight will be the responsibility of GPI. Mr. Lussier added GPI was 
selected last spring through a calls-based selection process. Last summer, a construction inspector 
was selected for the Cheshire Rail Trail and the Winchester Street project. The solicitation at that 
time was structured in a way that the City could select one or two different consultants for the two 
different projects; GPI was chosen at that time by the selection Committee as the preferred option for 
both projects. It was done through the normal qualification based process.

Page 59 of 83



Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a professional service 
contract with Greenman-Pedersen, Inc., (GPI) for an amount not to exceed $670,000 for 
Construction Engineering Services required for the Winchester Street Reconstruction Project.

Councilor Madison made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a professional service 
contract with McFarland Johnson, Inc., for an amount not to exceed $70,000 for Construction 
Support Services required for the Winchester Street Reconstruction Project.

Page 60 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #D.14.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Proposed Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for FY 2023-2029
  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of the 
Capital Improvement Plan for FY 2023-2029.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Chair Powers stated the Committee and public has had an opportunity to review the CIP. All 
concerns raised by the Council have been addressed by staff.  He continued members of the public 
came to the public hearing and supported projects they were interested in seeing move forward for 
the benefit of the community.  There were no public comments in opposition to the proposed CIP.  At 
this point, if anyone on the FOP Committee wishes to speak to a particular item this is their 
opportunity, otherwise it is time to entertain a motion.

Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of the 
Capital Improvement Plan for FY 2023-2029.

Page 61 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #F.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager
  

Through:
  

Subject: City Council Goals - City Manager
  
 
Recommendation:
That the City Council adopt the City Council goals for 2022-2023.
 
Attachments:
1. City Council Goals FY 2022-2023 (clean copy)
 
 
Background:
In November 2021, City Council held the first of two workshops to review and update the 2021 City Council goals 
document.  Councilors participated in small group discussions to review each of the eight 2021 goals.  The groups 
discussed what had changed over the past year, future trends affecting each goal, and then worked to identify 
where specific and measurable actions could be included in the document.  This process connects existing city 
reports, assessment documents, and strategic plans to council goals as part of an overall “Strategic Governance 
process”.

A summary of all discussion, comments, and ideas for each of the goals was reviewed at a second workshop in 
January. The summary included a series of “themes” or objectives from each table, which was incorporated into 
the goals document. These themes/objectives bring more specificity to the goals document and prioritize actions 
for the upcoming year or years.

The language of the eight goals was modified only slightly- Goal #1 regarding managing municipal finances was 
amended to say both finances and resources. The bulk of the work was around adding more specificity in the way 
themes or related objectives.

Council goals are used as part of the Capital Planning process and the upcoming FY23 operating budget.

Page 62 of 83



City Council Goals 2022-2023 

Goals 1-3 

1. Manage Municipal finances and resources in a manner to minimize the burden to the property 

taxpayer 

2. Support the Diverse needs of all Keene residents 

3. To help stabilize and revitalize existing businesses along with the arts and other nonprofit 

organizations and attract new ones to the community. 

  Related objectives: 

• Diversify revenues and evaluate revenue collection models (including online payment 

technology) to improve fiscal stability. 

• Improve communication and information sharing, and interaction with the public to 

help the council and public better understand city services, costs, value and priorities.  

• Capitalize on funding opportunities when they arise e.g. Federal infrastructure bill, 

CDBG, and other State and Federal programs. 

• Support businesses throughout the pandemic. 

• Utilize the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) process to stabilize infrastructure, large 

building, and large one time capital needs on the tax rate. 

Goals 4-5 

4. Infrastructure - Continue to ensure that Keene’s municipal infrastructure supports the varied 

needs of Keene residents and businesses. 

5. Collaborate with federal and state authorities to support an effective pandemic response. 

  Related objectives: 

• Improve communication and publicity regarding how the city prioritizes and funds 

infrastructure projects e.g. monthly reports and dashboards 

• Implement plans and asset management strategies for municipal infrastructure 

including sidewalks, parking, flood management, parks & recreation, roads, and utilities. 

• Develop, adopt, and begin to implement an EV charging strategic plan. 

• Incorporate risk analysis into asset management planning. 

• Implement strategic parking plan including maximizing downtown parking to support 

economic development. 

 

Goals 6-8 

Page 63 of 83



6. Make quality housing as affordable and available a possible. 

7. Environmental - advance Keene's sustainable Energy plan. 

8. Public Engagement - Conduct effective, ongoing public communications and 

engagement with Keene residents and businesses and with other partners as we 

negotiate these challenging times. 

  Related objectives: 

• Over the next three years, encourage the construction of new housing units 

consistent with Keene's share of statewide housing goals-230 new housing 

units. 

• Establish a "vision" for diverse housing options in Keene to help communicate 

the importance of housing to the community, to overcome hesitancy, and to 

encourage landowners to invest. 

• Identify areas in the City for potential higher densification to allow additional 

housing units to be built. 

• Continue to evaluate development standards and code to support economic 

development strategies and community vision. 

• Implement City’s Energy plan-which includes implementation of Community 

Power plan. 

• Maintain Keene's status as the leading sustainable city in NH and incorporate 

this identity in the city's branding strategy. 

Page 64 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #F.2.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Mayor George S. Hansel
  

Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk
  

Subject: Creation of a Parklet Ordinance - Mayor Hansel
  
 
Recommendation:
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
The outdoor dining season is fast approaching and City staff have been meeting about the drafting of 
an ordinance that would allow an expansion of outdoor cafe licenses in parklets.  Those initial 
discussions reveal that there are many components including placement locations and restrictions, 
acceptable vehicle impact barriers, acceptable parklet designs, electrification requirements, parking 
space allocations, etc. that need to be considered.  I am requesting that the City Council indicate 
whether it is ultimately receptive to the idea of parklets in downtown parking spaces before further 
City staff time is dedicated to the development of an Ordinance.  In addition, I am requesting that the 
PLD Committee consider an accelerated meeting schedule to accommodate a review and ultimate 
recommendation on a parklet ordinance.

Page 65 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #F.3.

Meeting Date: March 17, 2022

To: Mayor and Keene City Council

From: Merri Howe, Finance Director/Treasurer

Through: Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager

Subject: Acceptance of Donations - Partner City Committee

Recommendation:
To authorize the City Manager to do all things necessary to accept donations in the amount $120, 
proceeds from raffle tickets and "Taste of Keene" fundraiser beer sales in the amount of $452.95, a 
total of $572.95 raised by the Partner City Committee in 2021.

Attachments:
None 

Background:
This donation represents the amount raised by the Partner City Committee from participation in the 
2021 "Taste of Keene" food festival in July of 2021 for raffle ticket sales and Einbeck beer tasting 
ticket sales.

Page 66 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #G.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Mari Brunner, Planner
  

Through: John Rogers, Building/Health Official
Merri Howe, Finance Director/Treasurer

  

Subject: Capital Improvement Program FY 2023-2029
  
 
Recommendation:
Mayor Hansel moved that the Planning Board recommend to the City Council that the Capital 
Improvement Program for 2023-2029 is consistent with the Comprehensive Master Plan. The motion 
was seconded by David Orgaz, and passed by unanimous vote.
 
Attachments:
None 
 
Background:
Included below are the draft minutes of the February 28, 2022 meeting where this item was 
discussed by the Planning Board. 

“Finance Director Merri Howe and Public Works Director/Assistant City Manager Kürt Blomquist 
addressed the Board. Ms. Howe indicated the CIP document can be found on the City’s website. Ms. 
Howe stated the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a comprehensive program that covers a 
seven-year period. It covers projects and equipment that are estimated at $35,000 or more with a 
useful life of over five years. The CIP is presented bi-annually and reviewed annually during the 
operating budget process.
 
Ms. Howe stated the CIP is a tool for planning the City’s future that is guided by fiscal policy for which 
goals are set by the City Council and are outlined in the City’s Comprehensive Master Plan. The 
City’s master plan is the planning tool that guides the City’s vision and the CIP projects presented in 
this book. Each project presented in this book, if applicable, is tied to a master plan focus area. For 
example, the Transportation Heritage Trail Program focuses on a healthy community, one of the 
vision focus areas. The Parking Structure Maintenance Program is tied to a vision of a vibrant 
downtown.  There is a lot of thought and planning that goes into these projects. With that she turned 
the presentation over to Senior Planner Mari Brunner. 
 
Ms. Brunner stated the Master Plan update is scheduled for fiscal years 24 and 25. This would be a 
two-phase project. The first phase would be updating the community vision and updating data and 
trends in the plan. There will also be a housing analysis done as part of the first phase. The second 

Page 67 of 83



phase would take the information received and input it into the document. Ms. Brunner added the 
Planning Board does have a significant role in the Master Plan update and, historically, the City has 
looked to the Board to contribute heavily to the process. 
 
The Chair asked for clarification on what Ms. Brunner had stated about housing analysis. Ms. 
Brunner explained housing has been identified as a significant item not only for Keene, the County 
and the State, but for the entire country. Hence, the plan is to do an in-depth housing analysis; what 
is available and what is needed. Chair Russell Slack asked whether there is conversation being 
undertaken related to workforce housing. For instance, if a large housing project is being planned, is 
there a requirement that a certain percentage be dedicated to workforce housing? Ms. Brunner felt 
there was mention of that in the last master plan but there had not been anything put in place. The 
Chair felt the price of housing these days is something that would need to be looked at very closely. 
 
Public Works Director/Assistant City Manager Kürt Blomquist addressed the Board next. He indicated 
this coming Thursday the City Council will be conducting a public hearing on the CIP. He noted the 
theme of the CIP this year is “Strategic Governance: the Path to Our Future.” This is important 
because as the departments started reviewing projects it was determined that there are two levels of 
projects: one-time projects and maintenance projects.
 
One-time projects refer to when something new is being built. The next level of projects are capital 
maintenance projects to provide the various services for the community. He added one of the items 
that has been emphasized over the past few years is the development of asset management plans. 
He explained an asset management plan is how the City would take care of what it already owns. 
The first component of developing an asset management plan is to conduct an inventory to see what 
the City owns, the second step is to determine what condition these assets are in, and the third step 
is to answer the question – what does the City want for services out of those assets? 
Mr. Blomquist stated one of the new programs this year is sidewalks. In the past, sidewalks were 
grouped with larger projects and completed at that time. He noted the city’s asphalt sidewalks are the 
ones in the worst shape and those would be focused on first. 
 
Mr. Blomquist then referred to the large “one and done” projects and gave a few examples: 
 
The downtown infrastructure project which starts in fiscal year (FY) 23 would be a complete rework of 
all infrastructure in the downtown area. The present infrastructure ranges from the 1890’s to the 
1930’s. This is a 7.4 million project spread out over three years.
 
The next is the Transportation Heritage Trail, which is a four million dollar project to reconstruct three 
bridges over the multi-use trail.
The third project is the lower Winchester Street project, which last had work done in the 70’s – this 
work would include adding pedestrian and bicycle facilities and bringing the corridor up to date. 
 
The West Street corridor is scheduled just outside the CIP, starting at the bike path at Route 9/10/12 
and moving east into the City. 
In the Parking Fund, the City is looking at electric vehicle infrastructure for city operations and the 
general public, along with the construction of a parking structure scheduled for FY27. 
 
Marlboro Street reconstruction to include complete street improvements to Marlboro Street to 
encourage redevelopment in the area. 
 
Chair Russell Slack asked for clarification on the sidewalk project. Mr. Blomquist referred to page 89-
90: Approximately 17 miles of sidewalks have been deemed to be in substandard condition. 
Sidewalks are part of the general fund and one of the Council's goals is to minimize the impact on the 

Page 68 of 83



Keene tax rate. The City Engineer has been able to identify about $270,000 in sidewalk work over 
the next five years. Most of the work would be on the asphalt sidewalks located in the southeastern 
section of the city. 
In FY23, work will start on lower Main Street near the Route 101 corridor through the cemetery, and 
some sidewalks on School Street and North Lincoln Street. 
 
FY24 will be Belmont Avenue, Jennison Street and River Street. Mr. Blomquist stated this is a focus 
on sidewalks, not part of a larger project.
 
Chair Russell Slack noted there is a lot of federal monies available for different projects and asked for 
Mr. Blomquist’s opinion on it. Mr. Blomquist agreed and added the monies at the present time are 
going to be funneled through existing programs and staff is definitely looking into those programs. 
However, most programs have not published their guidelines yet, but as soon as the Appropriation 
Bill passes through Congress, staff will start focusing on those funds. 
 
Mr. Farrington commended the plan and how it was presented. Mr. Farrington asked about triggers – 
changes in the population and how that would affect the plan and items included in the plan. Mr. 
Blomquist stated in his department a review is done annually of their equipment. For instance, in the 
transfer station, if an equipment comes up for replacement but it is still in working condition and can 
be pushed out for another year, that is what will be done. However, there could be items like the 
Drummer Hill water tank that failed earlier than was planned for replacement. 
 
A motion was made by Mayor George Hansel that the Capital Improvement Program for 2023 – 2029 
is consistent with the Comprehensive Master Plan. The motion was seconded by David Orgaz and 
was unanimously approved.”

Page 69 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #I.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Donald Lussier, City Engineer
  

Through: Kurt Blomquist, ACM/Public Works Director
Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager

  

Subject: Relating to Stop Signs – Washington Avenue
Ordinance O-2022-03

  
 
Recommendation:
That Ordinance O-2022-03 be referred to the Municipal Services, Facilities and Infrastructure 
Committee for consideration and a recommendation back to the Council.
 
Attachments:
1. Ordinance O-2022-03
 
 
Background:
Public Works received a resident request to evaluate the configuration of the Washington Street / 
Washington Avenue intersection.  During the course of that review, it was discovered that the 
existing stop signs are not currently listed in City Code.  The Engineering Division believes that the 
signs are warranted and in conformance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD).

Ordinance O-2022-03 will codify the existing signs.  Minor changes to the configuration of this 
intersection will be made as part of the upcoming 2022 Pavement Preservation project.  These 
changes will involve the arrangement of pavement markings only; no changes to the infrastructure 
are proposed.

Page 70 of 83



Page 71 of 83



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #K.1.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Winchester Street By-Pass 
Project
Resolution R-2022-03
Resolution R-2022-04

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-03.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-04.
 
Attachments:
1. Resolution R-2022-03
2. Resolution R-2022-04
 
 
Background:
City Engineer Don Lussier addressed the Committee next. Mr. Lussier stated he was before the 
Committee to discuss the Winchester Street Reconstruction project. He indicated this is a significant 
construction project the City envisioned for season.

Mr. Lussier explained the City has been working on the design phase of this project since 2016. The 
project originally goes back to the mid to late 90’s. This project will be the reconstruction of the 
Winchester Street corridor from the existing roundabout at Route 101 to the Island Street, Pearl 
Street intersection along with the replacement of Island Street Bridge.

The design was completed last year to include acquisition of property rights. The project was put out 
to bid in September 2021 and bids were received in December 2021.

Unfortunately, because of the construction costs these days the bids came in significantly higher than 
was expected. As a result, the local share of the budget needs to be increased. The project is being 
funded with 80% Federal money and the City is only responsible for 20%, which is still a substantial 
amount. Resolution R-2022-03 is specifically for the appropriation from the General Fund.  This 

Page 72 of 83



project also includes funds from the Water and Sewer Funds. He indicated the good news is that the 
sewer project is coming in under budget. The General Fund needs about an additional $584,000 for 
the City’s share of the project cost, which will bring the total City’s appropriations for this project to 
include water and sewer up to 2.7 million dollars. Staff is requesting the $584,000 to be funded 
through a bond issuance. The majority of the general fund appropriation for this project will be debt 
funded. So this would increase the amount of debt funding for the project.

For the Water Fund, staff is asking to take an additional $150,000 out of the Water Infrastructure 
Capital Reserve.

Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-03.

Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-04.

Page 73 of 83



Page 74 of 83

hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
In City Council March 3, 2022.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee.

hfitz-simon_1
Typewritten Text
City Clerk



Page 75 of 83

hfitz-simon_2
Typewritten Text
In City Council March 3, 2022.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee.

hfitz-simon_3
Typewritten Text
City Clerk



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #K.2.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Thompson Road Repair and 
Stabilization Project
Resolution R-2022-05

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-05.
 
Attachments:
1. Resolution R-2022-05
 
 
Background:
Mr. Lussier stated in the fall of 2019 the residents of Thompson Road requested the Public Works 
Department look at their roadway. There was concern expressed the road was in poor condition, 
guardrails were loose etc. It was discovered the slope was settling in - sloughing being the technical 
term. It was alarming enough for staff to request an expert review of the situation. A Geotechnical 
Engineer was hired to perform some boring, take soil samples and evaluate the conditions. At the 
end of that process, the report indicated the slope was marginally stable, meaning it wasn't a crisis, 
but it was not something the City would like to see with a steep slope.

The City requested the engineer to dig a bit deeper and give some recommendations for improving 
the slope stability and fixing the roadway.

Presentations were made before the MSFI regarding this issue. The plan because this was a slow 
moving process to schedule the project via the CIP (this was back in 2020). In the fall of 2021, a 
resident contacted Public Works again and requested another review of the roadway. What was 
discovered at that time is that the roadway had settled an additional eight inches in some areas. 
Deterioration was happening a lot faster than expected. It was not included in the CIP as staff was 
going to be back before the Committee to discuss this item to start this work immediately.

Mr. Lussier stated the appropriation of funds is for the design phase, which would begin immediately, 
once the design is completed, construction phase will be discussed.

Page 76 of 83



Councilor Lake asked whether the funding is to stabilize that road or to decide whether a new road 
needs to be constructed. Mr. Lussier stated staff left it with MSFI was not go with a different path. He 
called the Committee’s attention to the options summarized on the next page of the Memo. 
Relocating the road would mean, moving the road going off Chapman Road branch off three-quarters 
of the way up Thompson Road and then abandoning the existing roadbed. This seemed like an 
attractive option. However, because the rail bed is so narrow, the cost for that option is essentially 
equal to the cost for repairing it in place, possibly a little bit more. It also implies some pretty 
significant property issues.  The City would have to acquire property perhaps demolish a house in 
order to put the road where the house currently is. It also crosses a couple of undeveloped parcels 
that were put under conservation easement. Mr. Lussier stated he wasn’t sure of the legal 
implications of taking something that is in conservation easement and turning it into a public road. 
This was another obstacle. The other real drawback was the location of the water main. Relocation of 
the road would require building a new water main, which could be very costly.

Hence, staff’s recommendation to MSFI was the restore in place option. MSFI did not take a vote on 
a preferred approach.

Councilor Lake noted the Engineer had indicated deterioration and asked whether the road could be 
stabilized in the long run. Mr. Lussier stated they will be able stabilize it, the question is how bad the 
road will get before construction can be completed.

Chair Powers asked for the timeframe for this work. Mr. Lussier stated construction is not likely to 
happen in 2022; it will take most of the summer in order to get the design completed. There is also 
some potential property implications for repairing it in place. Part of the recommendation given to 
MSFI is that the road will be widened from its current approximately 12.5 feet to at least 18 feet, 
which is still pretty narrow, but it would be enough for two cars to pass safely. In order to do that and 
in order to do the construction, the City will be touching private property. The residents on Thompson 
Road are going to be amenable to seeing that happen. However, one of the property owners is 
Antioch University. They hold their property as protected land and there will be some implications 
with cutting trees on this protected property.

Councilor Remy asked if any of the residents or neighbors from whom property will be taken could be 
resistant to it. Mr. Lussier stated in the short term, the City is absolutely going to need to be on 
private property otherwise there isn't enough room to do the construction and maintain access to 
those properties.  The City will basically need to abandon the neighborhood for about six months and 
the resident will not want that. In the long term if the property owners are not amenable to giving up 
their property for the extra roadway, they will be stuck with a road that does not pass two cars.

Attorney Mullins asked whether the Antioch property is also under conservation easement. Mr. 
Lussier answered in the affirmative.

Councilor Remy made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Chadbourne.

On a 5-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends the adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-05.

Page 77 of 83



Page 78 of 83

hfitz-simon_4
Typewritten Text
In City Council March 3, 2022.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee.

hfitz-simon_5
Typewritten Text
City Clerk



CITY OF KEENE
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #K.3.

   
Meeting Date: March 17, 2022
  

To: Mayor and Keene City Council
  

From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee
  

Through:
  

Subject: Council Policy: Relating to the Legislative Process
Resolution R-2022-06

  
 
Recommendation:
On a 4-1 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-06 and the rescission of the previous Council policy on Legislative process, 
Resolution R-2015-10.
 
Attachments:
1. Resolution R-2022-06
 
 
Background:
City Attorney Mullins stated this was a request to look at the Council's Legislative Initiatives and how 
the Council reviews and deals with those questions. There have been questions that have been 
raised over the years about the propriety of the City Council weighing in sometimes on issues that 
could be seen as not related to the City. As a result, staff took the existing Council policy and 
amended it to try and incorporate some of those questions and concerns.

He indicated what is in front of the Committee tonight is that draft for its review. The Attorney noted 
what is being attempted is to determine what these legislative initiatives are.  Whether those 
legislative initiatives constitute matters from either the State or Federal Government and how that 
may impact local government from an administrative, community planning, budgetary and service 
delivery level.

He indicated he retained much of the existing language, including a reference to working with the 
New Hampshire Municipal Association with respect to their review of legislative initiatives and their 
recommendations with respect to that. It also includes existing language providing for the City 
Manager and staff to be involved in the legislative process and review legislative initiatives, as well 
as the City Council to consider those as well.

If is a matter submitted to the City Clerk does not fall within this policy - rather than placing it on the 
agenda, it would be placed in the mailboxes for each of the members of the Council. If a Councilor 
wanted the issue considered, they would need to seek a suspension of the Rules of Order, which 

Page 79 of 83



would require a two-thirds majority vote.

Councilor Remy felt having a strong opinion about a few important things is more impactful than 
having a “shotgun” approach and weighing in on everything. He felt this amended Council policy was 
very helpful.

Councilor Chadbourne felt there are several constituents who have had opinions on both sides of the 
fence. She indicated one of the most important issues for her in the past 10 years as a City Councilor 
is when she and Councilor Jacobs brought before the Council a request to draft a resolution relative 
to adding gender identity to the list of protected classes in the city’s employment policies. She 
continued they had been approached by a New Hampshire transgender group. Transgender people 
see a lot of discrimination and nothing was happening on the State level; the matter was just being 
tabled.

Hence, this group started a statewide initiative and started approaching towns on an individual basis 
asking for support. Counselor Jacobs and herself brought this item to the Council and what they 
discovered was in the City Handbook there was nothing that protected transgender people. If the City 
had a transgender employee, they could be discriminated against just like they could be 
discriminated against at the State level. With all of these towns weighing in and coming forward, it 
changed the conversation at the State level and they were able to push through legislation that 
protected the rights of the transgender population. Councilor Chadbourne stated this had not started 
at the local level it would never have moved forward at State level.

Councilor Chadbourne stated as she started thinking about the past and her particular situation and 
what a difference that that made – she stated she couldn’t support this. The Councilor felt it was 
important on occasions to weigh in. She went on to say, the Attorney did refer to suspending Council 
rules to make sure there was enough consensus. She agreed the City Council is responsible for 
representing the City, review budgets, and things like roads, bridges etc. But the City Council also 
represents its constituents for all their concerns and sometimes those concerns can be beyond that 
specific purview. Councilor Chadbourne stated she knows there is strong support for what was 
presented tonight but wanted to bring her concerns for consideration as well.

Councilor Madison asked Councilor Chadbourne whether the proposal brought to her by that group 
was a change to City policy or was that a petition to bring to the State. Councilor Chadbourne stated 
it was a petition to bring to the State but that forced them to look at other things, including the City 
Handbook and that is when it was realized there was no protection for Transgender City employees.

Councilor Madison asked whether that group wanted to City to take a stance on this issue and then 
send a letter to the Governor or the legislature or for the City to enact the policy. Councilor 
Chadbourne stated they didn't ask anything from the City – this was research she did on her own. 
What they asked was for support to the State. What was created was a Resolution. Councilor 
Madison asked whether this was a group of individuals were from Keene or from outside of Keene. 
Councilor Chadbourne stated they were from both Keene and outside of Keene.  Councilor Madison 
asked whether this group had also gone to their Legislators and State Representatives. Councilor 
Chadbourne answered in the affirmative.

Councilor Remy felt this was a great example of a place where the Council should step in and be 
able to override the Council policy; however, to take a stance on a policy it should have to be a super 
majority with a two-thirds vote.

Councilor Lake stated he echoes Councilor Remy’s thoughts and felt the intent of this is to reduce 
the number of Resolutions and Partisan Resolutions while still allowing the caveat that was outlined, 

Page 80 of 83



when something rises to the occasion of needing to go past that threshold of having a majority like a 
supermajority to move forward.

Councilor Madison stated he agrees with Councilor Remy, when the Council takes a stance on a few 
important issues such as the issue Councilor Chadbourne had mentioned, we speak with a powerful 
voice. He stated he has been noticing a trend of some political groups, especially some groups from 
outside of Keene coming to Keene and requesting Keene take a stance on Partisan issues. He 
stated this has been concerning for him and noted this is why we have Congressional 
Representatives, State Senators, and unfortunately these individuals are not really reaching out to 
those Representatives and asking for support. They are asking the City to do the outreach for them. 
He felt having this two-thirds majority threshold makes sure the lower level issues that don't really 
impact the City, that are more partisan don't come before the Council but major important issues 
such as human rights, issues that can impact the residents of the City financially or impact delivery of 
services can come before the Council, and we can make the decision to take a stance on those and 
send a message either to Congress or to the State House in Concord.

Councilor Chadbourne made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy.

On a 4-1 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends adoption of 
Resolution R-2022-06 and the rescission of the previous Council policy on Legislative process, 
Resolution R-2015-10.

Councilor Chadbourne voted in opposition.

Page 81 of 83



Page 82 of 83



Page 83 of 83

hfitz-simon_6
Typewritten Text
In City Council March 3, 2022.Referred to the Finance, Organizationand Personnel Committee.

hfitz-simon_7
Typewritten Text
City Clerk


	 ROLL CALL
	 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	 MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING
	 March 3, 2022
	March 3, 2022


	A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS
	B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS
	1. NominationsPlanning BoardAirport Development and M
	Cover Sheet
	Radder, Christopher_Redacted

	2. Downtown Infrastructure Project Steering Committee
	Cover Sheet


	C. COMMUNICATIONS
	1. Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen and ArtBar - Request 
	Cover Sheet
	Communication_Machina Kitchen & ArtBar

	2. Councilor Remy - Conflict of Interest - KYPN Food 
	Cover Sheet
	Communication_Councilor Remy

	3. Homelessness
	Cover Sheet
	Councilors Williams, Workman and Lake - Homelessness


	D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES
	1. Danya Landis/Machina Kitchen & ArtBar - Request to
	Cover Sheet

	2. Gail Somers/Yahso Jamaican Grille - Request to Ser
	Cover Sheet

	3. Keene Young Professionals Network – Keene Food Fes
	Cover Sheet

	4. Rules of Order – Section 4 – Quorum and Remote Par
	Cover Sheet
	Section 4. Rules of Order Amendment
	Section 4. Rules of Order Amendment - redlined version

	5. Rules of Order – Section  15 – Conflicts of Intere
	Cover Sheet
	Section 15. Rules of Order Amendment
	Section 15. Rules of Order Amendment - redlined version

	6. Acceptance of 2022 Wellness Grant - Human Resource
	Cover Sheet

	7. Locality Equipment Matching Program Grant
	Cover Sheet

	8. Negotiate Lease of Airport Property - Airport Dire
	Cover Sheet

	9. Airport ORA - Monadnock Choppers
	Cover Sheet

	10. Airport Engineering and Architectural Services 
	Cover Sheet

	11. Professional Services Contract for Mapping City Ce
	Cover Sheet

	12. Body Worn Camera and In-Car Video System Implement
	Cover Sheet

	13. Winchester Street Reconstruction – Consultant Sele
	Cover Sheet

	14. Proposed Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for FY 202
	Cover Sheet


	E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
	F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS
	1. City Council Goals - City Manager
	Cover Sheet
	City Council Goals FY 2022-2023 (clean copy)

	2. Creation of a Parklet Ordinance - Mayor Hansel
	Cover Sheet

	3. Acceptance of Donations - Partner City Committee
	Cover Sheet


	G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
	1. Capital Improvement Program FY 2023-2029
	Cover Sheet


	H. REPORTS - MORE TIME
	I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING
	1. Relating to Stop Signs – Washington AvenueOrdinanc
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-03


	J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING
	K. RESOLUTIONS
	1. Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Win
	Cover Sheet
	Resolution R-2022-03
	Resolution R-2022-04

	2. Relating to the Appropriation of Funds for the Tho
	Cover Sheet
	Resolution R-2022-05

	3. Council Policy: Relating to the Legislative Proces
	Cover Sheet
	Resolution R-2022-06


	 NON PUBLIC SESSION
	 ADJOURNMENT



